CHURCH SAFEGUARDING POLICY 2022-23



Contents

1. Church Details	2
2. Church Statement: Commitment to Safeguarding	2
3. Safeguarding Procedures	4
3.1. Responding to Allegations or Suspicions of Abuse	4
3.2. Roles and Responsibilities	9
3.3. Appointing and Training of Workers	10
3.4. Working with Offenders	12
4. Good Practice	13
4.1. Helping Victims of Abuse	13
5. Acknowledgements	17
Appendix A: Terminology	18
Appendix B: Definitions of Abuse (Children)	17
Appendix C: Definitions of Abuse (Adults)	20
Appendix D: Signs of Abuse (Children)	22
Appendix E: Signs of Abuse (Adults)	23
Appendix F: Helping Victims of Abuse	24
Appendix G: Safeguarding Incident Recording Form	25
Appendix H: Application Form for Workers	27
Appendix I: Accident and Incident Form	30
Appendix J: Children's/ Young People's Guidelines	33
Appendix K: Guidelines for Pastoral Care	38
Appendix L: Rules on Photography (Children)	42
Appendix M: Child Pornography and Sexting	44
Appendix N: Self-Harm	45

1. Church Details

Name of the church: Every Nation Church, London (hereafter, "The Church")

Location: West Kensington Congregation, 9 Beaumont Ave, Hammersmith, London,

W14 9LP

Slough Congregation, St Bernard's Catholic Grammar School, 1 Langley Rd

Slough, SL3 7AF

Stratford Congregation, Highway Church Building, 88A Romford Road,

Stratford, E15 4EH

Huntingdon Congregation, Hartford Village Hall, 16 Main St, Hartford

Huntingdon, PE29 1YS

2. Church Statement: Commitment to Safeguarding

The Church Leadership (hereafter, "the CL") takes seriously its responsibility to protect and safeguard the welfare of children, young people and vulnerable adults entrusted to the church's care.

As part of this mission, the CL is committed to:

- Listening to, relating effectively with and valuing children, young people and vulnerable adults whilst ensuring their protection within church activities
- Respectful pastoral care for all to whom we minister
- Encouraging and supporting parents/carers
- Exercising proper care in the appointment and selection of those who will work with children and people who may be vulnerable
- Ensuring that children's/youth/vulnerable adult workers are given support and training
- Having a system for dealing with concerns about possible abuse
- Maintaining good links with the statutory authorities
- Promoting safe practice by those in positions of trust

The CL recognises that children, young people and vulnerable adults may be the victims of abuse.

Defining child abuse or abuse against an adult is a difficult and complex issue. A person may abuse by inflicting harm or failing to prevent harm. Children and adults in need of protection may be abused within a family, an institution or a community setting. Very often the abuser is known or in a trusted relationship with the child or adult.

In order to safeguard those in our church we adhere to the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child and have as our starting point as a definition of abuse, Article 19:

1. States Parties shall take all appropriate legislative, administrative, social and educational measures to protect the child from all forms of physical or mental

violence, injury or abuse, neglect or negligent treatment, maltreatment or exploitation, including sexual abuse, while in the care of parent(s), legal guardian(s) or any other person who has the care of the child.

2. Such protective measures should, as appropriate, include effective procedures for the establishment of social programmes to provide necessary support for the child and for those who have the care of the child, as well as for other forms of prevention and for identification, reporting, referral, investigation, treatment and follow-up of instances of child maltreatment described heretofore, and, as appropriate, for judicial involvement.

Also for adults the UN Universal Declaration of Human Rights with particular reference to Article 5:

No one shall be subjected to torture or to cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment.

Detailed definitions, and signs and indicators of abuse, as well as how to respond to a disclosure of abuse, are included here in our policy and appendices.

Accordingly, the CL has adopted the policy contained in this document, (hereafter, "the policy"). The policy sets out agreed guidelines relating to the following areas:

- Responding to disclosure of abuse, including allegations that may be made against the leaders or members of the church
- The role and responsibilities of the Safeguarding Leads, the Safeguarding Coordinators and the Congregation Leaders
- Appointing and training workers
- Working with offenders
- Good practice within pastoral care settings
- Helping victims of abuse
- Supervision of activities, boundaries and discipline within children's work

3. Safeguarding Procedures

3.1. Responding to Allegations or Suspicions of Abuse

3.1.1. General points

- Reassure the child/person
- Show acceptance of what the child/person discloses (however unlikely the story may sound)
- Keep calm
- Do not investigate or push for information. If the child/person decides not to tell you after all, then accept that and let them know that you are always ready to listen
- Tell the child/person you will need to let someone else know Do not promise confidentiality
- Let the child/person know what you are going to do next and that you will let them know what happens. You will need to let the Safeguarding Coordinator know of the allegations unless they are implicated.
- Consider your own feelings and seek pastoral support if needed
- Make notes as soon as possible (preferably within one hour of the person talking to you), writing down everything that the child/person said and when he/she said it, what you said in reply and what was happening immediately beforehand (e.g. a description of the activity). Record dates and times of these events and when you made the record. Keep all hand written notes, even if subsequently typed. Such records should be kept for an indefinite period of time.

See Appendix G: Safeguarding Incident Recording Form

Helpful things you may say or show:

- I believe you
- Thank you for telling me
- It's not your fault
- I will help you

Unhelpful things to avoid saying:

- Why didn't you tell anyone before?
- I can't believe it
- Are you sure this is true?
- Why? When? How? Who? Where?
- Never make false promises
- Never make statements like: "I am shocked. Don't tell anyone else."

3.1.2. Reporting allegations or suspicions or abuse

1. You must report concerns as soon as possible to the relevant Safeguarding Coordinator (hereafter "the Coordinator") who is nominated by the CL to act on their behalf in referring allegations or suspicions of neglect or abuse to the statutory authorities. The Coordinator may also be required by the conditions of the church insurance policy to immediately inform the insurance company. A decision will also be made as to whether the concern warrants a referral to the statutory authorities

	Children and Young People Safeguarding Coordinator	Adults Safeguarding Coordinator
West Kensington	Lydia Anderson 0794964197 lydia@everynation.london	Tamsin Daniel 07542385255 tammy@everynation.london
Slough	Sam Gemmill sammyjoparsons@hotmail.com	Traci Watson traci@everynation.london
Stratford	Angela Greer safeguard.stratford@everynation .london	Angela Greer safeguard.stratford@everyna tion.london
Huntingdon	Amber Hine amberchloehine@gmail.com	May Kee Koh kmaykee@yahoo.com

2. In the absence of the Coordinator, the Deputy Coordinator should deal with the matter.

	Children and Young People Safeguarding Deputy Coordinator	Adults Safeguarding Deputy Coordinator
West Kensington	Emtia Bartlett emtiabartlett@gmail.com	Anna Barber annab@everynation.london
Slough	Traci Watson traci@everynation.london	Sam Gemmill sammyjoparsons@hotmail.com
Stratford	Rommel Cervantes rommel@everynation.london	Rommel Cervantes rommel@everynation.london
Huntingdon	May Kee Koh kmaykee@yahoo.com	Amber Hine amberchloehine@gmail.com

- 3. A confidential record will be made of the conversation and the circumstances surrounding it using the template in <u>Appendix G</u>. This record will be kept securely and a copy passed to statutory authorities if a referral is made.
- 4. If the suspicions in any way implicate both the Coordinator and the Deputy Coordinator, then the report should be made in the first instance to thirtyone:eight or the relevant child or adult social services.

thirtyone:eight

info@thirtyoneeight.org PO Box 133, Swanley, Kent, BR8 7UQ 00303 003 1111 Membership No: 3425

Social Services (Children)

Telephone number: 020 8753 6600

After hours: 0208 7488588.

5. If there is an immediate threat of harm, the Police should be contacted without delay on 999.

Police and Emergency Services

Where the abuse is also a crime - such as assault, racial harassment, rape or theft - call the police on 999. You should always do this if you are worried that you or someone you know is in immediate danger

If you or someone else is or has been injured as the result of abuse or neglect then you should seek medical advice and treatment - if the injury is serious then call 999 and ask for an ambulance

In less urgent cases you can contact the police without using the emergency 999 service. Call the central police reporting line on 0300 123 12 12 or ring 101 (the police non-emergency number) to report a previous incident.

- 6. In situations of abuse, the worker or Coordinator should decide if it is safe for the child/person to return home to a potentially abusive situation. On rare occasions it may be necessary to take immediate action to contact the social services and/or the police to discuss putting into effect safety measures for the child/person so that they do not return home.
- 7. Suspicions will not be discussed with any other person than those nominated above.

8. It is, of course, the right of any individual as a citizen to make direct referrals to or seek the advice of the relevant social services, although we hope that members of the church will use this procedure. If, however, you feel that the Coordinator or Deputy has not responded appropriately to your concerns, then it is up to you to contact the appropriate organisation directly.

<u>Insurance</u>

The Church is covered by Public Liability Insurance through Ansvar and our broker is Jonathan Millard contactable on 0208 651 7420.

3.1.3. Specific Procedure for Allegations of Physical Abuse/Neglect (Children)

If a child has a physical injury or symptom of neglect, the Coordinator will:

- 1. Contact the Social Services (or thirtyone:eight) for advice in cases of deliberate injury or where concerned about the child's safety. The parents should not be informed by the church or organisation in these circumstances.
- 2. Where emergency medical attention is needed it shall be sought immediately. The Coordinator will inform the doctor about any suspicions of abuse.
- In other circumstances speak with the parent/carer and suggest that medical attention is sought for the child. The doctor or health visitor will then initiate further action if required.
- 4. If appropriate the parent/carer will be encouraged to seek help from the social services department.
- 5. Where the parent/carer is unwilling to seek advice, if appropriate, the Coordinator will offer to go with them. If they still fail to act, in cases of real concern, the Coordinator should contact social services for advice.
- 6. Where the Coordinator is unsure whether or not to refer a case to social services, then advice from the thirtyone:eight will be sought and followed if appropriate. thirtyone:eight will confirm its advice in writing in case it is needed for future reference purposes.

3.1.4. Specific Procedure for Allegations of Sexual Abuse (Children)

In the event of allegations or suspicions of sexual abuse, the Coordinator will:

- 1. Contact the Social Services Duty Social Worker for Children and Families or Police Child Protection Team directly. The Coordinator will not speak to the parent or anyone else except the Deputy Coordinator, local authorities or social services.
- 2. If, for any reason, the Coordinator is unsure whether or not to follow the above, then advice from thirtyone:eight will be sought and followed. thirtyone:eight will confirm this in writing in case these details are needed in the future.
- 3. Under no circumstances will the Coordinator attempt to carry out any investigation into the allegation or suspicions of sexual abuse. The role of the Coordinator is to collect and clarify the precise details of the allegation or suspicion and to provide this information to the Social Services Department, whose task it is to investigate the allegations under Section 47 of the Children's Act of 1989.
- 4. Whilst allegations or suspicions of sexual abuse will normally be reported to the Coordinator, the absence of the Coordinator or the Deputy Coordinator should not delay referral to the Social Services Department.
- 5. Exceptionally, should there be any disagreement between the person in receipt of the allegation or suspicion and the Coordinator or Deputy as to the appropriateness of a referral to the Social Services Department, that person retains a responsibility as a member of the public to report serious matters to the Social Services Department, and should do so without hesitation.
- 6. The CL will support the Coordinator and the Deputy in their role, and accept that any information they may have in their possession will be shared in a strictly limited way on a need-to-know basis.

3.2. Roles and Responsibilities

The CL recognises that there are three key safeguarding roles with varying responsibilities within the church: the Safeguarding Leads, the Congregation leaders and the Safeguarding Coordinators and Deputies. The roles and responsibilities of each are described briefly below.

3.2.1. The role and responsibilities of the Safeguarding Leads

The designated Safeguarding Leads for Children and Young People and Adults administrate safeguarding at a central level.

Their responsibilities are to:

- Keep the policy up to date and signed annually.
- Complete a safeguarding audit of all congregations and outreach groups and share
 the findings with the congregation leaders. The audit of children and young people
 safeguarding occurs biannually and the audit of adults safeguarding occurs annually.
- Report safeguarding concerns to the board where necessary and appropriate.
- Communicate policy updates to staff and train staff on safeguarding procedures annually.
- Create safeguarding training materials or signpost to existing safeguarding training materials where necessary.

3.2.2. The role and responsibilities of the Congregation Leader

The Congregation Leader is responsible for overseeing safeguarding for their congregation and any outreach group connected to their congregation.

Their responsibilities are to:

- Oversee the safeguarding coordinators for their congregation. This includes ensuring that designated safeguarding coordinators and deputy coordinators are in place, that they are trained and that they are fulfilling their responsibilities.
- Oversee compliance to the safeguarding policy.
- Ensure that staff and relevant volunteers have access to the policy and safeguarding procedure.
- Consult the Safeguarding Leads on any changes to their congregation's safeguarding coordinators or procedures.
- Oversee DBS checks for staff and relevant volunteers.

3.2.3. The role and responsibilities of the Safeguarding Coordinators and Deputies

The main role of the Safeguarding Coordinators and Deputies is to be the first point of contact for safeguarding issues.

Their responsibilities include:

- To be a named person that children, vulnerable adults, church members and outside agencies can talk to regarding any issue to do with safeguarding.
- To be aware of the names and telephone numbers of appropriate contacts within Social Services and the Police in the event of a referral needing to be made.
- To be aware of when to seek advice, and when it is necessary to inform Social Services or the Police of a concern or incident.
- To take appropriate action in relation to any safeguarding concerns which arise within the church.
- To cooperate with Social Services or the Police in safeguarding investigations relating to people within the church.
- To ensure that appropriate records are kept by the church, and that information in relation to safeguarding issues is handled confidentially and stored securely.
- To report any safeguarding incidents to the congregation leader (with appropriate level of detail/confidentiality).
- To ensure that relevant staff and volunteers undergo appropriate safeguarding training where necessary.

3.3. Appointing and Training of Workers

3.3.1.Training and Supervision for Children's, Young People's and Vulnerable Adults' Workers

In appointing workers the church will be responsible for the following:

- The procedure for appointment will be: job description, form completion (application form and self-declaration form), DBS checks, an interview in which safeguarding is discussed, checking of references and qualifications where relevant, agreement of expectations, probationary period and then official appointment.
- All members of staff will be checked through the Disclosure and Barring Service and this will be updated every three years.
- All prospective children and young people workers, and some pastoral workers who
 work specifically with vulnerable adults as defined in Appendix A, will be checked
 through the Disclosure and Barring Service and asked to complete a form (See <u>Appendix</u>
 <u>H: Application Form for Workers</u>).
- The criteria for not appointing or terminating the work of children's and vulnerable adults workers are: previous criminal offences (cautions and convictions), irresponsible behaviour as determined by the ministry leaders. Workers who have committed offences of a violent or sexual nature will not be permitted to work with children or vulnerable adults. Other offences will be viewed individually. (For example, a person with motoring offences may, at the discretion of the CL, be permitted to work with children, but may not be permitted to drive a minibus.)
- All children, young people and vulnerable adults workers and volunteers will be trained
 in good practice and safeguarding regularly. They will understand the types of abuse, will
 have read and understood the Church Safeguarding Policy (asking for explanations where
 necessary) and know what procedures to follow if a child/person makes an allegation of
 abuse.
- Children's ministry leaders will be given opportunities to meet together regularly with a leader to discuss work programmes and areas of concern including issues relating to discipline.
- The appointment of workers will be reviewed on a regular basis.
- All team members fall under the authority of the CL and this includes possible termination of their involvement if they are deemed to be unsuitable for the work that they are involved in.
- All records (of employees and volunteers, as well as clubs, camps, and other activities)
 are to be kept by the church for an indefinite period of time so that if they are needed
 for future reference, they are available.

- All employees are to have a "portfolio" of responsibilities that they are to ensure are completed.
- When we have the opportunity to have volunteers from outside of the UK we will then make sure to undertake necessary background checks on those applying to work with our children and teenagers and will have obtained 'fit person' checks from their home country as well as references from there before they attend our activities.

3.3.2. Training and Supervision for All Pastoral Workers

The CL is committed to on-going safeguarding training and development opportunities for all workers, developing a culture of awareness of safeguarding issues to help protect everyone. All our workers will receive induction training and undertake recognised safeguarding training on a regular basis.

The CL will also ensure that children and adults with care and support needs are provided with information on where to get help and advice in relation to abuse, discrimination, bullying or any other matter where they have a concern.

As a Leadership we are committed to supporting all workers and ensuring they receive support and supervision.

3.4. Working with Offenders

Where someone attending the church is known to have abused children or vulnerable people, then whilst extending friendship to the individual, the CL in its commitment to the protection of all children and vulnerable adults will meet with the individual and discuss boundaries that they are expected to keep. No one who has a criminal record or a caution for any offence with children or vulnerable adults will be allowed to work with such groups at Every Nation London.

If the CL become aware of someone within the church known to have harmed children or adults in the past, the relevant Safeguarding Coordinator must be informed. The Coordinator and the relevant statutory authorities will then put a plan in place to minimise the risk of harm to children and adults within the congregation.

4. Good Practice

The church is committed to providing sound and ethical pastoral care to children, young people, vulnerable adults and all members of the church. For more information on what the church outlines as good practice see <u>Appendix J: Children's/ Young People's Guidelines</u> and <u>Appendix K: Guidelines for Pastoral Care</u>.

4.1. Helping Victims of Abuse

As a church we are committed to supporting victims of abuse, and encouraging them in their faith. The CL is committed to offering pastoral care, working with statutory agencies as appropriate, and support to all those who have been affected by abuse who have contact with or are part of the church.

For more information see **Appendix F: Helping Victims of Abuse**.

5. Acknowledgements

This document is based on a model Child Protection Policy supplied by thirtyone:eight. This policy must not be copied by other churches/ organisations without the written agreement of thirtyone:eight.

This policy was created with reference to the following documents:

Promoting a Safe Church: Policy for Safeguarding adults in the Church of England, (2006) Available at:

https://www.churchofengland.org/sites/default/files/2017-11/promotingasafechurch.pdf

United Reformed Church's *Safeguarding Policy for Local Churches (2015)* Available at:

https://urc.org.uk/images/safeguarding/Sample-Safeguarding-Policy-June-2015.pdf

Office of the Public Guardian safeguarding policy (2017) Available at:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/595194/SD8-Office_of-the-Public-Guardian-safeguarding-policy.pdf

Pastoral Care UK's *Guidelines for Good Practice in Pastoral Care (2016)*Available at:

https://www.acc-uk.org/public/docs/pastoral-care/PCUK_Guidelines_for_Good_Practice_in_ PC_Rev_20.09.pdf

Appendix A: Terminology

This safeguarding policy covers children and adults. A child is defined as someone under the age of 18, this includes children and young people. An adult is generally defined as someone over the age of 18.

A vulnerable adult (or adult at risk) can be defined as:

Any adult aged 18 or over who, by reason of mental or other disability, age, illness or other situation is permanently or for the time being unable to take care of him or herself, or to protect him or herself against significant harm or exploitation.

It is important to note that all adults are susceptible to vulnerability and that nobody can be seen as 'invulnerable'.

Some of the factors that increase vulnerability include:

- a sensory or physical disability or impairment;
- a learning disability;
- a physical illness;
- mental ill health (including dementia), chronic or acute;
- an addiction to alcohol or drugs;
- the failing faculties in old age;
- a permanent or temporary reduction in physical, mental or emotional capacity brought about by life events, for example bereavement or previous abuse or trauma.

Am I working with a vulnerable adult?

The following information relates to the Safeguarding of Adults as defined in the Care Act 2014, Chapter 14. Safeguarding, this replaces the previous guidelines produced in 'No Secrets' (Department of Health 2000)

The legislation is relevant across England and Wales but on occasions applies only to local authorities in England.

The Safeguarding duties apply to an adult who;

- has need for care and support (whether or not the local authority is meeting any of those needs) and;
- is experiencing, or at risk of, abuse or neglect; and
- as a result of those care and support needs is unable to protect themselves from either the risk of, or the experience of abuse or neglect.

Appendix B: Definitions of Abuse (Children)

Child abuse has many forms. There are four identified categories of abuse as described in Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018: physical, emotional, sexual and neglect.

It is important not to investigate but to seek advice. Somebody may abuse or neglect a child by inflicting harm, or by failing to act to prevent harm. Children may be abused in a family or in an institutional or community setting, by those known to them or, more rarely, by a stranger. They may be abused by an adult or adults, or another child or children.

PHYSICAL ABUSE

Physical abuse may involve hitting, shaking, throwing, poisoning, burning or scalding, drowning, suffocating or otherwise causing physical harm to a child.

EMOTIONAL ABUSE

Emotional abuse is the persistent emotional maltreatment of a child such as to cause severe and persistent adverse effects on the child's emotional development.

SEXUAL ABUSE

Sexual abuse involves forcing or enticing a child or young person to take part in sexual activities, not necessarily involving a high level of violence, whether or not the child is aware of what is happening.

Child sexual exploitation

Child sexual exploitation is a form of child sexual abuse. It occurs where an individual or group takes advantage of an imbalance of power to coerce, manipulate or deceive a child or young person under the age of 18 into sexual activity (a) in exchange for something the victim needs or wants, and/or (b) for the financial advantage or increased status of the perpetrator or facilitator. The victim may have been sexually exploited even if the sexual activity appears consensual. Child sexual exploitation does not always involve physical contact; it can also occur through the use of technology.

NEGLECT

Neglect is the persistent failure to meet a child's basic physical and/or psychological needs, likely to result in the serious impairment of the child's health or development.

DOMESTIC ABUSE

Domestic abuse is any incident of threatening behaviour, violence or abuse (psychological, physical, sexual, financial or emotional) between adults who are or have been intimate partners or family members, regardless of their gender or sexuality. Domestic abuse has an impact on children in a number of ways:

- They are at increased risk of physical injury (either by accident or because they attempt to intervene)
- They are greatly distressed by witnessing the physical and emotional suffering of a parent

- Exposure to parental conflict can lead to serious anxiety and distress
- Children in violent households are more likely to be exposed to other forms of abuse.

SPIRITUAL ABUSE

Within faith communities harm can be caused by the inappropriate use of religious belief or practice. This can include the misuse of the authority of leadership or penitential discipline, oppressive teaching, obtrusive or forced healing and deliverance ministries (including abuse linked to a belief in spirit possession) or rituals, any of which may result in children experiencing physical, emotional or sexual harm.

EXTREMISM

Extremism goes beyond terrorism and includes people who target the vulnerable – including the young – by seeking to sow division between communities on the basis of race, faith or denomination; justify discrimination towards women and girls; persuade others that minorities are inferior; or argue against the primacy of democracy and the rule of law in our society.

Note on FGM (Female Genital Mutilation)

Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) includes all procedures involving the partial or total removal of the external female genitalia or any other injury to the female genital organs for nonmedical reasons.

FGM is illegal in the UK (Female Genital Mutilation Act 2003) and is considered to be child abuse. As a result, it is mandatory to report 'known' cases of FGM in children and young people under 18 years of age to the police.

Some signs and indicators of FGM could be:

- knowing that the family belongs to a community in which FGM is practised and is making preparations for the child to take a holiday.
- arranging vaccinations or planning absence from school.
- the child may also talk about a special procedure/ceremony that is going to take place.
- indicators that FGM may already have occurred include prolonged absence from school, church or other activities with noticeable behaviour change on return.
- bladder or menstrual problems.
- children finding it difficult to sit still and look uncomfortable.
- complaining about pain between their legs.
- talking about something somebody did to them that they are not allowed to talk about.

Leaders should also be aware that other forms of abuse can occur, e.g.:

stranger abuse

- internet-related abuse sometimes called 'e-abuse'
- bullying (abuse by other children)
- fabricated or induced illness
- abuse of disabled children (who are more frequently abused than non-disabled children)
- deliberate self-harm (overdoses, cutting)
- allegations of possession by evil spirits
- child trafficking
- sexual exploitation
- forced marriage
- peer abuse can be confused with bullying

Definitions of harm

The following is adapted from Working Together to Safeguard Children 2010, the statutory guidance for Safeguarding and Child Protection

- 'Harm' means ill-treatment or the impairment of health or development, including, for example impairment suffered from seeing or hearing the ill-treatment of another.
- There are no absolute criteria on which to rely when deciding whether something
 constitutes harm or significant harm. Consideration of the severity of ill-treatment may
 include the degree and the extent of physical harm, the duration and frequency of abuse
 and neglect, the extent of premeditation, and the presence or degree of threat, coercion
 etc..
- Abuse and neglect are forms of maltreatment of a child. Somebody may abuse or neglect a child by inflicting harm, or by failing to act to prevent harm. Children may be abused in a family or in an institutional or community setting, by those known to them or, more rarely, by a stranger for example, via the internet. They may be abused by an adult or adults, or another child or children.
- The maltreatment of children, physically, emotionally, sexually or through neglect, can have major long- term effects on all aspects of a child's health, development and wellbeing. The immediate impact and longer-term impact can include anxiety, depression, substance misuse, eating disorders and self-destructive behaviours, offending and anti-social behaviour. Maltreatment is likely to have a deep impact on the child's self-image and self-esteem, and on his or her future life. Difficulties may extend into adulthood.
- N.B. It is not the position of staff or volunteers to make a judgment on the type of harm, or on the severity and its likely impact, but to simply listen, respond, seek advice and refer on to the authorities as needed. Always seek advice, even if you are unsure;

Appendix C: Definitions of Abuse (Adults)

This section considers the different types and patterns of abuse and neglect and the different circumstances in which they may take place. This is not intended to be an exhaustive list but an illustrative guide as to the sort of behaviour which could give rise to a safeguarding concern.

DEFINITION OF ABUSE

From The URF's Safeguarding Policy for Local Churches:

Abuse is a violation of an individual's human and civil rights by any other person or persons. Abuse may consist of a single act or repeated acts. It may be physical, verbal or psychological, it may be an act of neglect or an omission to act, or it may occur when a vulnerable person is persuaded to enter into a financial or sexual transaction to which he or she has not consented, or cannot consent. Abuse can occur in any relationship and may result in significant harm to, or exploitation of, the person subjected to it.

PHYSICAL ABUSE

This includes assault, hitting, slapping, pushing, giving the wrong (or no) medication, restraining someone or only letting them do certain things at certain times.

SEXUAL ABUSE

This includes rape, indecent exposure, sexual harassment, inappropriate looking or touching, sexual teasing or innuendo, taking sexual photographs, making someone look at pornography or watch sexual acts, sexual assault or sexual acts the adult didn't consent to or was pressured into consenting.

DOMESTIC ABUSE

This includes psychological, physical, sexual, financial or emotional abuse. It also covers so-called 'honour' based violence.

FINANCIAL OR MATERIAL ABUSE

This includes theft, fraud, internet scamming, putting pressure on someone about their financial arrangements (including wills, property, inheritance or financial transactions) or the misuse or stealing of property, possessions or benefits.

PSYCHOLOGICAL/EMOTIONAL ABUSE

This includes emotional abuse, threats of harm or abandonment, depriving someone of contact with someone else, humiliation, blaming, controlling, intimidation, putting pressure on someone to do something, harassment, verbal abuse, cyber bullying, isolation or unreasonable and unjustified withdrawal of services or support networks.

SPIRITUAL ABUSE

This includes the inappropriate use of religious belief or practice, the misuse of the authority of leadership or penitential discipline, oppressive teaching, obtrusive or forced healing and deliverance ministries (including abuse linked to a belief in spirit possession) or rituals, any of which may result in vulnerable adults experiencing physical, emotional or sexual harm. Vulnerable adults may also need protecting from radicalisation and being exposed to extremist views.

MODERN SLAVERY

Encompasses slavery, human trafficking, forced labour and domestic servitude. Traffickers and slave masters use whatever means they have at their disposal to coerce, deceive and force individuals into a life of abuse, servitude and inhumane treatment.

ORGANISATIONAL ABUSE

Including neglect and poor care practice within an Institution or specific care setting such as a hospital or care home, for example, or in relation to care provided in one's own home. This may range from one off incidents to on-going ill-treatment. It can be through neglect or poor professional practice as a result of the structure, policies, processes and practices within an organisation.

DISCRIMINATORY ABUSE

Including forms of harassment, slurs or similar treatment; because of race, gender and gender identity, age, disability, sexual orientation or religion.

NEGLECT

This includes ignoring medical, emotional or physical care needs, failure to provide access to educational services, or not giving someone what they need to help them live, such as medication, enough nutrition and heating.

SELF- NEGLECT

This covers a wide range of behaviour neglecting to care for one's personal hygiene, health or surroundings and includes behaviour such as hoarding. Incidents of abuse may be one-off or multiple, and affect one person or more.

Appendix D: Signs of Abuse (Children)

The following signs could be indicators that abuse has taken place but should be considered in context of the child's whole life.

PHYSICAL

- Injuries not consistent with the explanation given for them
- Injuries that occur in places not normally exposed to falls, rough games, etc
- Injuries that have not received medical attention
- Reluctance to change for, or participate in, games or swimming
- Repeated urinary infections or unexplained tummy pains
- Bruises on babies, bites, burns, fractures etc which do not have an accidental explanation*
- Cuts/scratches/substance abuse*

SEXUAL

- Any allegations made concerning sexual abuse
- Excessive preoccupation with sexual matters and detailed knowledge of adult sexual behaviour
- Age-inappropriate sexual activity through words, play or drawing
- Child who is sexually provocative or seductive with adults
- Inappropriate bed-sharing arrangements at home
- Severe sleep disturbances with fears, phobias, vivid dreams or nightmares, sometimes with overt or veiled sexual connotations
- Eating disorders anorexia, bulimia*

EMOTIONAL

- Changes or regression in mood or behaviour, particularly where a child withdraws or becomes clinging.
- Depression, aggression, extreme anxiety.
- Nervousness, frozen watchfulness
- Obsessions or phobias
- Sudden under-achievement or lack of concentration
- Inappropriate relationships with peers and/or adults
- Attention-seeking behaviour
- Persistent tiredness
- Running away/stealing/lying

NEGLECT

- Under nourishment, failure to grow, constant hunger, stealing or gorging food,
- Untreated illnesses,
- Inadequate care, etc

^{*}These indicate the possibility that a child or young person is self-harming. Approximately 20,000 are treated in accident and emergency departments in the UK each year.

Appendix E: Signs of Abuse (Adults)

It is essential to note that these are only indicators of possible abuse. There may be other, innocent, reasons for these signs and/or behaviour. They will, however, be a guide to assist in assessing whether abuse of one form or another is a possible explanation for an adult's behaviour.

PHYSICAL ABUSE

- A history of unexplained falls, fractures, bruises, burns, minor injuries
- Signs of under or over use of medication and/or medical problems unattended

SEXUAL ABUSE

- Pregnancy in a woman who is unable to consent to sexual intercourse
- Unexplained change in behaviour or sexually implicit/explicit behaviour
- Torn, stained or bloody underwear and/or unusual difficulty in walking or sitting
- Infections or sexually transmitted diseases
- Full or partial disclosure or hints of sexual abuse
- Self-harming

FINANCIAL ABUSE

- Disparity between assets and living conditions
- Unexplained withdrawals from accounts or disappearance of financial documents
- Sudden inability to pay bills
- Carers or professionals fail to account for expenses incurred on a person's behalf
- Recent changes of deeds or title to property

PSYCHOLOGICAL/EMOTIONAL ABUSE

- Alteration in psychological state e.g. withdrawn, agitated, anxious, tearful
- Intimidated or subdued in the presence of the carer
- Fearful, flinching or frightened of making choices or expressing wishes
- Unexplained paranoia

NEGLECT

- Malnutrition, weight loss and /or persistent hunger
- Poor physical condition, poor hygiene, varicose ulcers, pressure sores
- Being left in wet clothing or bedding and/or clothing in a poor condition
- Failure to access appropriate health, educational services or social care
- No callers or visitors

(Adapted from The URF's Safeguarding Policy for Local Churches)

Appendix F: Helping Victims of Abuse

In seeking to help victims of abuse the following points may be helpful to consider:

- Victims of abuse often have difficulty trusting others and this loss of trust can have a profound impact on the life of the survivor.
- Many victims of abuse do not speak about their experience until many years after the incident.
- There is no quick fix for healing from abuse and it is crucial that survivors:
 - Are not pushed into forgiving too early. Forgiving their abuser/s is a complex process, and considerable damage can be done by treating forgiveness as something that they must do unreservedly and now.
 - Are not put in a position of feeling even more guilty than they already do. Survivors tend to feel that the abuse was all their fault, particularly when there was more than one abuser.
 - Are accepted as they are, however full of anger they may be. Anger can be seen as
 one step along the road to forgiveness at least if they are angry they are starting to
 accept that the abuse seriously affected them and this can be a good starting point
 to move towards healing.
 - Are given a sense that those within the church community who know about the abuse are 'with them' along the road to recovery. The journey can be very long and supporters are essential.
- Survivors can benefit from professional counselling if that is available, or joining a support group. Survivors helping other survivors can be powerful and effective.
- It is important to recognize the vulnerability and possible 'childlike' state of survivors, especially when they are in crisis or the early stages of healing. They can be over-compliant and easily manipulated. Power abuse within pastoral care is a real danger here.

(Adapted from *Promoting a Safe Church: Policy for Safeguarding adults in the Church of England*)

Appendix G: Sample Safeguarding Incident Recording Form

Basic Information		
Full name of child, young person or adult concerned		
Address (including postcode)		
Email address		
Telephone Number		
Date of birth		
Date and time of incident		
Location of incident		
Other people present (witnesses)		
Record of incident (continue on a separate sheet if necessary)		
Please ensure you are as accurate and detailed as possible. Use quotes wherever possible – do not interpret what was said using your own words. Include details such as tone of voice, facial expression and body language. Record what you said as well as what the child, young person or adult said. If you have formed an opinion please state it, making it clear that it is your opinion and give reasons for forming that opinion.		

Who has been spoker	n to about the incident	?	
Position /	Name	Email	Telephone no.
Organisation Church Safoguarding			
Church Safeguarding Coordinator			
Deputy Coordinator			
Children's Services			
Adult Services			
Police			
NSPCC			
Parent / Carer			
Other (please state			
role and			
organisation)			
Feedback and follow	up actions (continue o	n a separate sheet if ne	cessary)
Name:(person who complete	ed this report)		
Desiries beldied	hah		
Position held in the c	nurcn: 		
Signed:			
Datadi			

Appendix H: Application Form for Workers

Sample application form for work with children and vulnerable adults at Every Nation Church London

We ask all prospective volunteer children's, youth and vulnerable adults workers to complete this form as part of our safeguarding policy. The information will be kept confidential by the church, unless requested by the appropriate authority.

Any applicant who wishes to volunteer with under 18's in our church must already be part of an Every Nation connect group or be in some kind of mentorship/discipleship relationship in the church.

Personal details:	
(These will be used to process your DBS)	
Full Name	
Date and Place of Birth	
Address	
Tel no	
E-mail	
How long have you lived at the above address?	
Your Christian Faith/Church Life:	
How long have you been a Christian?	
Please name your previous church?	
What was your reason for leaving your previous Church?	
Please give details of any previous experience you have had working with children, you rulnerable adults, including any relevant qualifications or training you may have	oung people

Yes	an offer to work with children/young people/vulnerable adults do No	eciinea?
If yes please give de	etails:	
References:		
Please give 2 refere	ences in the section provided below. These need to be people who ke to give a personal reference. In addition we reserve the right to take y individual deemed necessary.	•
1. Full Name		
Address		
Tel no		
E-mail		
2. Full Name		
Address		_
Tel no	·	
E-mail		
Role		
Declaration (See r	note below)	
an investigation	n charged or convicted of a criminal offence or are you presently t	he subject of
Yes	No	
If yes please give d	etails including the nature and dates of these offence(s)	

-	ou ever be d respons	een involved in court proceedings concerning a child/vulnerable person for whom bility?
Yes		No
If yes p	lease give	details
-		ge have you ever had an allegation made against you which has been investigated sor the police?
Yes	No	(If yes, we will need to discuss this with you.)
•	section4(ii) to withhold and in the	the nature of the work for which you are applying, this position is exempt from the provision of of the rehabilitation of offenders act 1974 (Exemptions order 1975) and you are therefore not entitled information about convictions which for other purposes are 'spent' under the provisions of the act event of appointment, any failure to disclose such convictions could result in the withdrawal of work with children and/or young people within the church.
	• I, f h h	confirm that the above information is correct and complete the above named applicant, release Every Nation Church, it's trustees, directors and staff rom any loss or personal injury, accident misfortune or damage to the above named or his or er property, with the understanding that reasonable precautions shall be taken to ensure ealth and safety of the above named applicant. agree to read and abide by the guidelines and rules set out in Every Nation Church London's thurch Safeguarding Policy
<u>Signed</u>		
<u>Date</u>		
Please	ask vour	connect group leader to read this form and fill in the section below:
	-	
	mend	am happy/not happy to (applicants name) to work with children/young ble adults. (delete as applicable)
Signed	<u> </u>	Date

If you feel there is anything you need to discuss with us privately, please contact the relevant safeguarding coordinator

Appendix I: Accident and Incident Form

SAMPLE ACCIDENT AND INCIDENT FORM

This form should be completed immediately after <u>any accident or significant incident</u>. The worker should discuss with the activities leader of the particular event and decide what follow up action is necessary. This can now also be done in our Accident / Incident Books

Day, date and time of incident:
Names, addresses and ages of those involved in the incident:
Where the incident took place:
Name of church:
Name of your group:
Person normally responsible for the group (name, address and telephone number):
Person responsible for the group at the time of the incident (name, address, telephone number):
Other workers supervising group at the time of the incident (names, addresses, telephone numbers):
Persons who witnessed the incident (names, addresses, telephone numbers and ages if under 16):

Describe the accident or incident (include injuries received and any other first aid or medica treatment given):
Have you retained any of the defective equipment?
If so, where is it being kept and by whom?
What action is being taken to prevent a recurrence of the incident?
Is the site or premises still safe for your group to use?
Is the equipment still safe for your group to use?
Who else do you need to inform?
Have they been informed?
If so, when and by whom?
Signature of person in charge of the group at the time of the accident/ incident:
Print name:
Date:
Form seen by Pastor/ Leader:
Signature:
Print name:

Appendix J: Children's/Young People's Guidelines

General Guidelines

For the church's code of behaviour and more detailed guidelines on touch, transporting children, registration of children's groups, recommended staffing levels, health and safety and dealing with children with special needs please see the **Children and Young People Good Practice Guidelines.**

For more detailed information on social media see the church's **Social Media Policy**.

Supervision of Activities

Arrangements For Supervision of Group/Children's Activities

1. We agree to exercise "reasonable care" in:

Preventing injury to other persons

Complying with laws and regulations imposed by any legal authority

Exercising care in the selection of workers (voluntary and salaried)

- 2. A worker should not be alone with a child (see Appendix I for rules for child protection during children's activities).
- 3. Where an interview is being conducted in private, make sure others know of this and that there are others nearby.
- 4. All personal information about team members and children is confidential and may not be shared with those outside of the area of Children's Ministry. However, there may be occasions where another adult may need to be consulted or informed of an incident. It is thus accepted that while confidentiality shall be respected; where necessary other sources may be consulted.
- 5. No persons under the age of 16 will be left in the care of a child of any age whilst at an organised activity. After they have left the activity the church leadership is no longer responsible for any incidents that may occur.
- 6. A register of persons attending the activity will be kept and this will include details of any late arrivals or early departures.
- 7. Each activity and possible subsequent incident will be recorded. These will be reported to parents when they collect children. In the absence of parental collection, this will be recorded in the logbook. If necessary, an incident form shall be completed. (Refer to Appendix J: Accident and Incident Form.)

8. Discipline for misbehaviour will be recorded in the logbook in case it is needed for later reference. (For more information on discipline see p. 13 below)

Boundaries and Discipline

Boundaries

- Level of personal care (e.g. toileting) must be appropriate to the age and needs of the child
- Guidance on touch is necessary, as it is healthy and acceptable, but not in all circumstances.
- Workers must treat all children with dignity and respect in language used, attitude and actions.
- Children's privacy must be respected and any activity that may be questionable must be avoided (e.g.: provocative language and actions).
- Ensure that all transport arrangements are with the knowledge of the leadership and that they have parental approval. Do not carry any one child on his/her own.
- The only workers who are allowed into a children's activity are the team and any other adults who have specific permission from the leadership. These visits must be recorded in the logbook.

Guidelines For Discipline

Discipline is the education of a person's character. It includes nurturing, training, chastisement, instruction, verbal rebuke, teaching and encouragement. It brings security, produces character, prepares for life, is evidence of God's love and is God's heart. (Hebrews 12: 5-12 and Proverbs 22:6)

- Work on each individual child's positives, do not compare them to one another, but encourage and build them up, giving them responsibility for simple tasks.
- Build healthy relationships with children and be a good role model, setting a good example. You can't expect children to observe ground rules if you break them yourself.
- Take care to give quieter and well-behaved children attention and don't allow some children to take all your time and energy.
- Be consistent in what you say and ensure that other team members know what you have said this avoids manipulation.

- Look honestly at your programme. If children are bored, they misbehave could the programme be at fault?
- NEVER smack or hit a child and don't shout change voice tone if necessary.
- Discipline out of love and not anger. Call on support from other leaders if you feel you may deal with the situation unwisely in your anger.
- Lay down ground rules, e.g. no swearing, racism or calling each other names, respect for property, and make sure that the children understand what action will be taken if not kept.
- Each child is unique, special and individual, and each child needs a different method of being dealt with. We need to ask why the child is behaving in that way.
- Separate children who are disruptive when together. Give them a chance, warn them and separate if they are disruptive as a last resort.
- Have the child sit right in front of you or get a helper to sit next to the child.
- Be proactive and encourage helpers to be proactive and not wait to be told to deal with a situation.
- Take the child aside and talk to them, challenge them to change, whilst encouraging them on their strengths.
- Warn a child that you will speak to their parents and do so if necessary. Warn them, send
 them outside the room (under supervision), back into the service or ban them for a
 week. (Never a total ban without reference to your leader and ensure that parents are
 informed in the case of banning.)
- If a child's behaviour is constantly disruptive, seek advice and guidance from a leader.
- Pray before you meet and talk over the session before you leave.

Child Protection Guidelines

These are guidelines for specific groups and will need to be updated when these groups change. They will form the basis of any training in Child Protection with volunteers.

Overall guidelines:

These should be applied in all situations to safeguard children from abuse and leaders from wrongful allegations of abuse:

- No leader- including teenage leaders at camp etc. should ever be alone with a child. They
 must at the very least be with a group of children, but wherever possible should be
 where other leaders can see them, at all times. This includes disciplining a child, praying
 for or counselling a child. They must always stay where other leaders can see them and if
 possible hear them as well.
- Physical discipline of any sort is not permitted- this includes pushing, or pulling a child to make him or her do what they have been told to do. An exception to this would be if their behaviour is a danger to themselves or others.
- Touch is important to children, but must always be at the consent of the child, and must be appropriate for the age of the child. Male leaders especially must be aware that touch could be misunderstood and keep hugs etc. brief.
- All leaders must be taught and made aware of all child protection guidelines.
- Leaders of each group- must be made aware of any new adults attending the group before class begins. At no time should an unknown adult be left alone with children even if it is a group.

Church classes:

- Each class must have at least one female leader. There can be more, but there should not only be 2 males, except under exceptional circumstances.
- Only female leaders should take young children who need help, to the toilet.
- No physical discipline.
- At no time should any leader be on their own with a child in a room. This includes needing to discipline a child, pray for or comfort a child. They should always be in sight of other leaders.
- No leader should ever take one child home on their own- either by car or walking them.
- All leaders must be Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) checked

Club:

- No leader should ever be alone with a child in the hall, on the bus or in the toilet.
- Never go into the toilet with a child.
- No physical discipline.
- All leaders must be Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) checked.

Home Visits:

- Never go into a home when a child is on his or her own and you do not have permission from the parents.
- Never go into a child's bedroom on your own.

 As far as possible do not visit on your own, but if you do have to, never go into a home on your own.

Fetching children for events:

- Do not fetch a child on your own especially if you are a male leader-always walk in a group and preferably with 2 leaders.
- If possible arrange for children to meet at a central point which is in public.
- All leaders must be police checked
- Children must always have permission letters from parents before going to events, and parents must be made aware of travel arrangements.

Mentorship:

- Mentorship groups should have more than one child at all times, especially the male groups.
- If you are meeting somewhere like the office, make sure that more than one child will attend- if only one child is coming either move the group to a public place- McDonalds etc.. or cancel it.
- All mentors must be police checked.

New Events: Football, Wacky Wednesday, homework clubs etc.

- Before these start all leaders must be police checked.
- There must always be more than one leader present.
- Where both sexes are going to be present there must be both female and male leaders.
- No children are allowed to be fetched, transported etc on their own to any eventsalways in a group.
- No leader must ever be on their own with a child.

Junior Leaders:

All the above rules apply to Junior leaders and it is the duty of senior leaders to ensure
that they are aware of these rules and to ensure that they keep them. They too could
commit abuse, and are also at risk of being accused of abuse.

Appendix K: Guidelines for Pastoral Care

Definitions

A Christian Pastoral Carer is someone who either formally, as part of a pastoral team, group or network or informally, as part of their fellowship group or everyday relationships in the community, offers care and support to another, in the knowledge of being loved themselves by God and in the hope of sharing that love with others.

Christian pastoral care might involve: sustaining others through prolonged difficulty or immediate need, enabling the journey of healing and wholeness, considering the process of reconciliation with God, self and others, offering guidance about other resources and enabling different perspectives.

Christian pastoral care might take the form of: listening, encouraging, visiting, hospitality, advocacy, mentoring, befriending, celebrating, practically helping, prayer, comforting, enabling.

Christian pastoral care might happen: formally in planned and organised ways or informally through everyday spontaneous moments.

Christian pastoral care might be offered by an individual, by small groups, through a particular ministry, through an outreach project, by one church or a group of churches.

Note: Pastoral care is not Counselling. Counselling is a specialised function which requires specialised training, involves a contractual agreement between the counsellor and his/her client, and is subject to a separate Code of Ethics and Practice.

Scope of Pastoral Care within the Church

On some level, every member of the church has the opportunity to act as a pastoral carer, acting on the God-given responsibility to care for others. This informal pastoral care usually takes place in an unplanned and organic manner.

Some members of the church are particularly gifted and called by God to provide pastoral care in a more focussed way. This might include offering and providing pastoral care in more planned or formal ways. This level of pastoral care should involve the pastoral carer undertaking training and developing knowledge, insights, skills and expertise in pastoral care at a greater depth. Examples of such pastoral carers are those in the prayer ministry team, connect group leaders and kids team leaders etc.

Finally, a few Christians within the church are particularly called and gifted to resource, lead or co-ordinate the work of pastoral care in planned, structured and formalised ways. These pastoral carers may have specialist knowledge, experience and skill to enable, encourage and equip the pastoral care work of others within the church, and provide them with training, leadership, support and opportunities to reflect on their practice. Examples of such pastoral carers would be those employed as pastors within the church.

Guidelines for Good Practice in Pastoral care

Adherence to the following principles should foster an ethical practice of pastoral care within the church:

Value and Respect

Pastoral Carers are called to value each person as created uniquely in the image of God (Genesis 1:27), with purpose, potential and capacity to live life to the full (John 10:10). Pastoral Carers will be careful to respect the rights and dignity of every person as a unique individual, equal with them in the sight of God and regardless of race, religion, nationality, language, gender, marital status, sexual orientation, age, size, employment, income, disability, health, abode, or criminal record.

Independence and Autonomy

Pastoral Carers are called to be burden bearers and burden sharers with and for others, whilst not creating dependency or denying the person their responsibilities and capabilities (Galatians 6:1–5). Pastoral Carers will be careful not to create unhealthy dependencies for either themselves or the persons to whom they are offering pastoral care.

Pastoral carers should respect the right of individuals to make their own decisions, even if they disagree with a decision or believe it to be unhealthy.

Empathic listening and careful speaking

Pastoral Carers are called to relate to others with an emphasis more on listening than speaking, and to be mindful and careful of the words that they speak (James 1:19–27; Proverbs 18:19).

Acceptance and Non-Judgement

Pastoral Carers will seek to accept and not judge a person and to allow them the safety, freedom and space to express themselves and to make their own decisions without force or manipulation, even when they disagree with the person's thinking, actions and lifestyle.

Trustworthiness

Pastoral Carers will be careful to ensure that they do not misuse or abuse the trust that is bestowed upon them by a person.

Safeguarding

Pastoral Carers will ensure that the person is safeguarded as far as is practically reasonable and that appropriate steps are taken to seek appropriate medical, legal or other professional assistance where required.

Pastoral Carers will not subject any person to physical, psychological, verbal or spiritual harassment and will not tolerate such behaviour by others. Harassment can include physical, psychological, emotional, sexual or spiritual abuse including insults, unwelcome sexual

behaviour, language or jokes, display of offensive materials, words, pictures, symbols, behaviour, gestures, or signals.

Pastoral Carers will not exploit people they are helping financially, sexually, emotionally, or in any other way.

Confidentiality

Pastoral Carers are called to exercise confidentiality and discretion (Proverbs 11:13; Proverbs 20:19).

Guidelines for Confidentiality within Pastoral Care

Confidentiality is a critical boundary which protects the privacy of the person and the integrity of pastoral work, in our church or organisation. Confidentiality ensures the information a person reveals to us is not disclosed to anyone else, without the person's prior knowledge and consent, apart from exceptional circumstances where safeguarding is necessary. Confidentiality however, does not need to be confused with secrecy i.e. concealing information which could be significantly harmful to others or collusion i.e. explicitly or inherently cooperating with illegal or unethical behaviour.

Exceptions to confidentiality include when:

• The Pastoral Carer has been required by legislation or a Court of Law to disclose certain information either to the Police or the Court.

In this instance the Pastoral Carer, if they are not placing themselves at risk, should encourage and support the person to disclose information themselves to the appropriate bodies, authorities or agencies. If this is not possible, the Pastoral Carer should seek the person's permission for them to pass information on to any appropriate bodies, authorities or agencies. If this is not forthcoming the Pastoral Carer should disclose information, which is only on a need to know basis, to the appropriate bodies, authorities or agencies without the person's consent.

- the Pastoral Carer has reason to believe that others, particularly a child or vulnerable person, are or maybe, at risk of harm or injury.
- the Pastoral Carer has reason to believe that the person is at risk of harming themselves.

Pastoral Care offered informally in the everyday contexts of life, needs to assume that what is spoken by the person is to be kept confidential. Where there is any doubt, the Pastoral Carer needs to assume responsibility for clarifying this e.g. would the person like their situation to be kept confidential, be prayed for by a group of intercessors who would keep their details confidential or shared with the CL or ministry team etc.

Self-Care for the Pastoral Carer

Pastoral Carers need to ensure they are taking care of their own health and well-being as they offer care to others. This includes ensuring they are obtaining sufficient rest, exercise and sleep and are looking after their own relationships. It also includes ensuring they have sufficient regular space to grow in relationship with God, mature in faith and develop self-awareness themselves through reflective practice.

Pastoral Carers need to ensure they are not working out of their depth in a detrimental way to themselves or the person, that they are working within their abilities and competencies and that they are prepared to refer or signpost a person to others when needed.

Pastoral Carers need to feel safe themselves and in some instances have a right to decline offering care and or seeing someone on their own e.g. with a person who is under the influence of alcohol or drugs or who are 'acting out' aggressively.

(Adapted from Pastoral Care UK's Guidelines for Good Practice in Pastoral Care)

Appendix L: Rules on Photography (Children)

Photography and video recordings are great ways of recording Every Nation London church life, recording special moments and providing a historic record, illustrating and validating important moments in young people's lives and in our activities as an historic record of the events undertaken by Every Nation London involving kids and youth.

In accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018 and GDPR act, organisations must be careful if they want to take photographs or film footage of people, and how images are used. This does not mean that photographs should not be taken or that filming is prohibited, but there are certain protocols that must be followed to comply with data protection legislation as well as to ensure that children, young people and vulnerable adults are kept safe.

Permission must be obtained of both children and adults before a photograph is taken or film footage recorded(or Parent/Guardian where appropriate.) For all church projects we need to ensure that we have recorded consent via ChurchSuite before using any material for both internal and external purposes. Internal covers anything that remains physically and/or digitally (USB, cloud or google drive etc) within the church organisation e.g. can be shown on a powerpoint for training, within an unrecorded church service or a password protected zoom meeting. External is anything that goes public which includes all broadcast services and social media and is easily accessible (eg. through platforms like Facebook, YouTube, etc).

Whilst it is considered acceptable to ask parents/carers to let the organisation know if they do NOT want their child photographed or filmed and for the parent/ carer to contact them if they have any objections, we must ensure that consent is obtained before proceeding or delete any media that contains images of those who have not yet consented to their image being taken, used and stored. Alternatively, media can be blurred to protect the anonymity of anyone.

The project leader, with permission from the CL, should contact parents or carers to explain what is happening for each project. It must be made clear why the image(s) or film is being used, what it will be used for and who might want to look at the pictures.

When using photographs of children and young people, use group pictures and never identify them by name or other personal details in writing. These details include e-mail or postal addresses, telephone or fax numbers. This is also important when taking screenshots of online meetings.

When images or videos are being used for a project outside the normal scope of Every Nation London, e.g. for a personal university project or school homework, then written and specific consent from parents or carers must be obtained by the individual concerned.

No Youth or Children workers should take photos of children on their personal digital capture device for personal use. Photos should never be shared using any messaging service and only shared by secure cloud services or USB stick or drive.

When taking photos of special events or places like camp, we will always have designated photographers, who have gone through the necessary checks ie DBS, etc, to take photos and then all photographs and films are uploaded to one agreed platform (e.g. hard-drive or cloud based servers) to the knowledge of a Kids and Youth Pastor at Every Nation London and then deleted from original devices.

- Photographers should not take photographs or prolonged film focusing on any one particular child. In the scenario when burst photos have been taken any unused picture would be deleted immediately.
- Care should be taken not to take pictures of children where they can be easily identified (e.g. if a name badge is visible/school uniform).
- All children must be appropriately dressed when photographed. i.e not photos taken of children or adults semi-naked or in swimming attire that is revealing.
- No photographs/films taken of a child if the child, or their parents, who have opted out of the photo permissions included in the consent form will not be used or will be doctored in such a way that maintains the privacy of the child and/or parent/guardian.

All photographs that are taken, excluding external projects, remain the property of Every Nation and must only be used in accordance with Every Nation policies. Photographs and video images are 'personal data' as far as data protection legislation is concerned and must be used responsibly.

Appendix M: Child Pornography and Sexting

Child Pornography

Making, downloading or viewing sexual images of children on the Internet is a crime. People who engage with child pornography need help to prevent their behaviour from becoming even more serious. Those seeking help with their online sexual behaviour can take part in the organisation Stop It Now!'s online self-help programme on https://www.stopitnow.org.uk or call their confidential and anonymous helpline on 0808 1000 900.

If someone discloses to you that they have viewed child pornography you should contact the church's Safeguarding Coordinator.

Sexting

The current law on sexting also referred to as YPSI (youth produced sexual images) states that "creating (taking), possessing or sharing sexual/indecent images or videos of a child under 18 is illegal, even if the person doing it is a child."

Although the age of consent is 16, the relevant age in relation to indecent images is 18 and so any-one under the age of 18 years of age is considered a child. There is no official definition of indecent within the law, however, if the person in a picture is naked, a topless girl, contains genitals or sexual acts (including masturbation) then it is indecent.

This includes:

- Sending sexual messages to a child
- A child taking an explicit photo or video of themselves or a friend sharing an explicit image or video of a child, even if it's shared between children of the same age.
- Having, downloading or storing an explicit image or video of a child, even if the child gave their permission for it to be taken.
- Sharing an explicit image or video of a child is illegal, even if it's shared between children of the same age. Adults sharing a photo of a child to raise awareness is also illegal.

Sexting is illegal. If a youth worker or volunteer is told about this in any of the ways mentioned above they need to discuss the matter with the Safeguarding Coordinator and report this to the police. While it is expected of us to report to such matters to the police, it is also essential that we understand the impact on the young person and take the time to care for them and their emotional well being too. It is also important to note that new guidance was introduced in 2016 to address the trend of sexting, allowing police to close investigations where the messaging is considered non-abusive and there is no evidence of exploitation, grooming, profit motive, malicious intent or persistent behaviour. Such cases are recorded as outcome 21, which allows police to list a crime as having happened but for no formal criminal justice action to be taken.

Appendix N: Self-Harm

What is self-harm?

Self Harm is a physical manifestation of an emotional difficulty. In a moment of extreme emotional stress, a physical pain can feel preferable and works to mask the underlying issue.

The phrase 'self-harm' is used to describe a wide range of behaviours, the most common of which are cutting, scratching, bruising, burning or overdosing oneself, or intentionally putting oneself in risky situations. Self-harm also includes behaviour that is quite common such as abusing alcohol and drugs or having an eating disorder. The phrase is used when a person injures or harms themselves on purpose rather than accidentally. Self-harm can be understood as a physical response to emotional distress and it can be very addictive. Once a young person starts self-harming it can become a compulsion and that's why it's important to notice it as soon as possible and do everything you can to help. Self-harm is always a sign that something is seriously wrong.

Why do young people self-harm?

Young people harm themselves for all sorts of reasons but the need to self-harm usually comes from strong emotions that have become difficult to manage. Young people who self-harm give different reasons for why they do it. Self-harming behaviour is often associated with feelings of anger. Some young people who self-harm say that they feel desperate about a problem and they don't know what to do or who to turn to. Self-harm makes them feel more in control. For some young people who are experiencing unbearable feelings of shame, self-harm is a way of punishing themselves. Some young people who have experienced trauma or abuse cope with this by dissociation (that is they cut themselves off mentally from their experiences and become emotionally numb) and so, for these young people, inflicting pain on themselves is a way of making themselves feel more connected and alive. Self-harm is not usually a suicide attempt or a cry for help.

The majority of self-harm happens within the community and doesn't reach the attention of mental health services but a small proportion (usually overdosing) results in a hospital admission. Paracetamol is the most common medicine taken as an overdose and this can cause serious liver damage; even small overdoses can sometimes be fatal. Individuals who have self-harmed are at higher risk of suicide than other young people, but the risk is still low. Young people who harm themselves with a wish to commit suicide usually also have mental health problems or other serious issues in their lives. It's more helpful to see self-harm for most young people as their way of coping, a survival strategy in the face of emotional distress. There are, however, always risks with self-harm and it should never be ignored.

Assessing risk

Decisions about what to do next can be based on the level of risk involved in the self-harm. There is generally a scale of risk when looking at self-harm behaviour.

Low risk:

Individuals whose self-harm results in superficial tissue damage, who have some positive coping skills, and external support are those whose behaviour poses less of a risk. Parents may or may not need to be notified in this case depending on your confidence that the self-harm is transient and not likely to cause unintended injury. Mentoring or befriending a young person in these circumstances can be helpful, whilst also encouraging them to use safer coping strategies to help release their feelings, such as writing, drawing, physical exercise. It is important to remember that self-harm usually stems from a sense of internal or external stress, it is therefore helpful to encourage the individual who is self-harming to seek a trusted adult to talk to when they feel like they may be at risk of self-harm or other unhealthy behaviours. This could be a youth worker, relative, school nurse, or a counsellor.

Higher risk:

If a young person is frequently reporting self-injury practices or is using high-risk methods, ie. deep cutting, ingesting caustic substances. If this is coupled with experiencing severe internal and external stress with few positive support or coping skills, they are likely to require more intense intervention, such as GP, and/or Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS). Higher risk self-harmers usually have a more established self-harm routine, report a degree of dependence, often hurt themselves more than intended, and report life interference as a result of their self-injury. Where under 18, parental involvement is likely to be advised in such cases. It is important to note that the young person should be respectfully and actively involved even where there is resistance. Ideally, the young person should be encouraged to speak to their parent/s about the harming, however, if reluctant, a responsible adult may need to alert parents that their child may be in danger of harming him or herself in the future.

Helpful responses

Notice when the young person seems upset, withdrawn or irritable. Self-injury is often kept secret but there may be clues, such as refusing to wear short sleeves or to take off clothing for sports. Encourage them to talk about their worries and take them seriously. Show them you care by listening, offer sympathy and understanding, and help them to solve any problems. Buy blister packs of medicine in small amounts. This helps prevent impulsive overdoses. Getting pills out of a blister pack takes longer than swallowing them straight from a bottle. It may be long enough to make someone stop and think about what they are doing. Keep medicines locked away. Get help if family problems or arguments keep upsetting you or the young person. If a young person has injured themselves, you can help practically by

checking to see if injuries (cuts or burns for example) need hospital treatment and if not, by providing them with clean dressings to cover their wounds.

As a parent or responsible adult, it's really hard to cope with a child/young person with self-harming behaviour or who attempts suicide. It's natural to feel angry, frightened or guilty. It may also be difficult to take it seriously or know what to do for the best. Try to keep calm and caring, even if you feel cross or frightened; this will help your child/young person know you can manage their distress and they can come to you for help and support. This may be difficult if there are a lot of problems or arguments at home. Or, you may simply feel too upset, angry or overwhelmed to effectively help your child/young person.

If so, you should seek advice from your GP. As a teacher/minister/youth worker, it is important to encourage young people to let you know if one of their friends is in trouble, upset or shows signs of harming themselves. Friends often worry about betraying a confidence and you may need to explain that self-harm is very serious and can be life-threatening. For this reason, it should never be kept secret.

Safeguarding Procedure

If a young person has disclosed self-harm the first step would be to contact the Safeguarding Officer and a Accident/ Incident form can be filled out together with a discussion to assess the risk of the situation and what steps need to be put in place to best protect the young person – physically, emotionally and mentally. It is always important to document what the young person has told you about where they are at so that you have a record of what has been happening and something to be able to look back on and see if the situation is escalating.

We don't automatically tell a young person to stop self-harming as this behaviour is addictive and the root cause of the behaviour needs to be addressed at the same time to have the best results. Gently giving the young person "safer" ways to deal with their pain and self help steps to work their way through this is the best way forward.

Lydia Anderson is trained in Mental Health First Aid and so can be used as a resource and again thirtyone:eight will be able to advise on an individual case by case basis.